
 

 

Agenda - Public Accounts and Public Administration 

Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 5, Tŷ Hywel and video 

conferencing via Zoom 

Meeting date: 16 November 2023 

Meeting time: 09.15

For further information contact: 

Fay Bowen 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddPAPA@senedd.wales
------ 

Private pre-meeting  

(09.00-09.15) 

1 Introductions, apologies and substitutions 

(09.15)   

 

2 Papers to note 

(09.15-09.35)   

 

2.1 Letter from Director General, Climate Change and Rural Affairs Group on 

Cardiff Airport Next Generation Security Scanners 

 (Page 1)  

2.2 Letter from the Managing Director - Green Man 

 (Pages 2 - 3)  

2.3 Letter from the Chief Executive and Clerk of the Senedd - Scrutiny of annual 

report and accounts 2022-23 

 (Pages 4 - 9)  

2.4 Letter from the Permanent Secretary - Report of the Public Accounts and 

Public Administration Committee - Scrutiny of Accounts Welsh Government 

2021-22 

 (Page 10)  

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



 

 

2.5 Welsh Government response to the Legislative Consent Memorandum (LCM) 

on the Economic Activity of Public Bodies (Overseas Matters) Bill 

 (Pages 11 - 12)  

2.6 Letter from the First Minister to Chair of the Children, Young People and 

Education Committee 

 (Pages 13 - 14)  

2.7 Letter from the Chair of the Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure 

Committee 

 (Pages 15 - 16)  

Break  

(09.35-09.40) 

3 Accounts scrutiny: Amgueddfa Cymru-Museum Wales 

(09.40-11.10) (Pages 17 - 82)  

Kate Eden – Chair, Amgueddfa Cymru-Museum Wales 

Jane Richardson – Chief Executive, Amgueddfa Cymru-Museum Wales 

Phil Bushby – (provisional attendee) Director of Corporate Resources, 

Amgueddfa Cymru-Museum Wales 

 

Supporting Documents 

Financial Report of the Board of Trustees of the National Museum of Wales – 

2021-22 

Attached Documents:  

Research brief 

Public Interest Report of the Auditor General for Wales 

4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 

public from the meeting for the remainder of today's meeting 

(11.10)   

 

https://senedd.wales/media/ut3lu2t2/agr-ld16060.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/ut3lu2t2/agr-ld16060.pdf


 

 

5 Consideration of the evidence received - Scrutiny of accounts -  

Amgueddfa Cymru-Museum Wales 

(11.10-11.30)   

 

6 Consideration of the Committees draft report on the Senedd 

Commission's Accounts to the Committee 

(11.30-11.50) (Pages 83 - 120)  

Attached Documents:  

Draft report: Accounts Scrutiny 2022-23: Senedd Commission 

 

7 Consideration of the Legislative Consent Motion (LCM) on the 

Economic Activity of Public Bodies (Overseas Matters) Bill 

(11.50-12.00) (Pages 121 - 122)  

Attached Documents:  

Legislative Consent Motion (LCM) on the Economic Activity of Public Bodies 

(Overseas Matters) Bill 



Tracey Burke
Cyfarwyddwr Cyffredinol / Director General

Y Grŵp Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig
Climate Change and Rural Affairs Group

Parc Cathays ● Cathays Park
Caerdydd ● Cardiff

CF10 3NQ

Ffôn  ● Tel 0300 0258047
tracey.burke@gov.wales

Gwefan ● website: www.wales.gov.uk

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh. Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in
Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.

Mark Isherwood MS 
Chair – Public Accounts and Public Administration Committee 
Welsh Parliament 
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff 
CF99 1SN

26 October 2023

Dear Mr Isherwood,

Cardiff Airport Next Generation Security (NGS) Scanners

Further to the Committee’s interest in Cardiff Airport and my previous attendance at 
evidence sessions of your Committee, I am writing to bring to the Committee’s attention to a
Written Statement issued today by the Deputy Minister for Climate Change regarding Next 
Generation Security Scanners. 

The Written Ministerial Statement can be viewed here: 

Written Statement: Cardiff Airport Next Generation Security (NGS) Scanners (26 October 
2023) | GOV.WALES

On a related note, I will be sending you the next six-monthly update, as agreed with your 
Committee, shortly.

Yours sincerely,

Tracey Burke
Director General, Climate Change and Rural Affairs Group

PAPA(6)-16-23-PTN1

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2.1



Mr Mark Isherwood MS Chair
Public Accounts and Public Administration Committee
Senedd Wales

1st of November 2023

Dear Mr Isherwood,

Re: Wales Affairs Committee - Green Man is Wales' "coherent brand for the overseas
market."

From recent PAPAC meetings, there seems to be doubt from a few committee members as
to why the Welsh Government would seek to support Green Man. I hope this offers the
committee some evidence of our value to Wales and the Welsh economy.

Earlier this year, the Welsh Affairs Committee raised concerns that Wales attracts "such a
small proportion" of visitors to the UK. Of 41 million international holidaymakers to the UK in
2019, just over one million visited Wales. A report by MPs on the Welsh Affairs Committee
highlighted Wales "relatively low profile overseas" and said "Wales lacks a coherent brand
for the overseas market"

The report stated that £28bn was spent in the UK by international tourists in 2019, but only
£515m - 2% - of that was spent in Wales.

I would draw your attention to the fact that Green Man was the first UK festival to sell out for
the 2024 festival season, and that this is the second year this has happened. All tickets were
sold in two hours, which is an hour and half quicker than those sold in 2022.

Green Man is an influential brand in its own right as evidenced by the fact that no artist or
other program content was advertised at the time of sale. 25,000 people a day attend Green
Man, and of those customers purchased tickets on the influence of our Welsh brand alone.
The destination map of ticket purchasers below illustrates the global location of those who
will attend Green Man 2024 this coming August.

The UK festival industry is brutally competitive and dominated by international entertainment
corporations, who unlike SMEs such as Green Man do not generate profit into the
exchequer. The fact that Welsh made and Welsh grown Green Man can compete with and
even surpass these competitors internationally is down to the unique experience we offer
through our Welsh brand.

There may be further reasons for the Welsh Government's interest in Green Man, but the
fact that our Welsh brand is "a coherent brand for the overseas market,” may be one of
them.

Please contact me if you wish for further information.

Regards,
Fiona

PAPA(6)-16-23-PTN2

Pack Page 2

Agenda Item 2.2

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5803/cmselect/cmwelaf/220/report.html


Green Man 2024 - Map of Global Ticket Purchasers Destinations - Source Ticketline

PAPA(6)-16-23-PTN2

Pack Page 3



3 November 2023 

Dear Mark, 

Scrutiny of annual report and accounts 2022-23 

I am writing to provide you with the further information that we promised in the course of 

Committee questioning on 12th October.  

The following information is set out in the attached annex: 

• A supplementary note on the recruitment process of the Commission’s Independent

Advisors. 

• A supplementary note on the level of cyber-attacks experienced by the Commission in the

last year. 

Further to one outstanding matter, I can confirm that no cases of harassment were brought against 

the Senedd Commission and no payments were made by the Commission in respect of any matters 

involving alleged harassment during the 2022-23 financial year  

A supplementary note with benchmark details of cost of living support payments made by other 

Parliaments will be provided under a separate confidential cover as that information has been 

provided to the Commission on a confidential basis. 

During the meeting, I also said that we would publicise the Terms of Reference of the 

Remuneration Committee.  These can now be found on the Senedd website: Commission 

Corporate Governance Framework (senedd.wales)  

Finally, external access to the intranet was raised as an issue and discussed during the meeting. 

Having given this some further consideration, I would like to offer a meeting to the Member who 

raised the matter, Mike Hedges MS, with the Commission’s Head of ICT and Cyber Security team 

who will be happy to provide a briefing and discuss any concerns and suggestions that the 

Member may have, on a confidential basis.  

Mark Isherwood MS 

Chair of Public Accounts and Public Administration Committee 

Senedd Cymru 

Tŷ Hywel 

Cardiff Bay 

CF99 1SN 

PAPA(6)-16-23-PTN3

Pack Page 4

Agenda Item 2.3

https://senedd.wales/commission/commission-corporate-governance-framework/
https://senedd.wales/commission/commission-corporate-governance-framework/


 

 

We would like to thank the Committee for its scrutiny. The Commission’s approach is always to try 

to operate with openness, transparency, and clarity. If there is anything else that we can provide 

you with to assist the Committee, please do not hesitate to let me know.  

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 
Manon Antoniazzi 

Prif Weithredwr a Chlerc y Senedd / Chief Executive and Clerk of the Senedd 

cc Senedd Commissioners, Ken Skates MS, Kate Innes 

 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

PAPA(6)-16-23-PTN3

Pack Page 5



 

 

Annex  

1   A Supplementary Note on the Recruitment and Selection of new Independent 

Advisers  

 

Purpose 

This document provides a summary of the steps taken in relation to the appointment the 

new cohort of 3 Independent Advisers - Mark Egan, Menai Owen-Jones, and Uzo Iwobi - 

between June 2022 to November 2022. 

 

Background 

The Delegation of Senedd Commission functions to the Chief Executive and Clerk is subject 

to a number of exceptions which include the appointment, terms and conditions and 

remuneration of the non-executive Independent Advisers to the Commission. 

 

The role of Independent Advisors is to act in an advisory and non-political capacity. The 

Advisers are expected to offer constructive challenge across the Commission’s business 

with a view to ensuring that all aspects of strategy and delivery are scrutinised for 

effectiveness and efficiency. They contribute to the monitoring of the performance and 

progress of the organisation, including the use of human and financial resources, and 

maintain a critical overview of the organisation’s financial controls and procedures.  Two of 

the Independent Advisers sit as members of the Commission’s Diversity and Inclusion Steering 

Group and the Workforce Engagement Steering Group. 

 

Executive Search  

In 2021, the Commission entered into a four year contract with an executive search agent, 

Penna. The purpose of the contract is to support the Commission’s Diversity and Inclusion 

commitments to increasing diversity across senior Commission and public appointments.  

 

Given the specialist nature and number of Independent Advisers required it was agreed by 

the Commission that this campaign would benefit from dedicated executive search activity, 

to diversify the candidate pool, through targeted approaches to potential applicants.  

 

Panel membership 

The selection panel consisted of: - 

 

• Manon Antoniazzi, Chief Executive and Clerk to the Senedd 

• Siwan Davies, Deputy Chief Executive and Clerk and Director of Senedd Business 

• Robert Evans, Independent Adviser to the Commission  

 

PAPA(6)-16-23-PTN3

Pack Page 6



 

 

 

 

Advertising the role  

The campaign was published in June 2022 with links to the advert on Penna’s website included 

on the Senedd’s website. Both Penna and the Senedd’s Linked In accounts were also used to 

promote the opportunities. 

 

After the advert’s publication confidential interim search reports were provided to the 

selection panel. 

 

The final search report was received shortly after the closing date 8 August 2022.  

 

Longlist 

A longlist pack and all 19 applications (CVs and supporting statements) were provided to 

the selection panel on 10 August 2022.  

 

Roger Russell (Penna) and the selection panel met on 12 August to review the initial list of 

applications and to agree a longlist of candidates for Penna to undertake preliminary 

interviews ahead of the shortlist meeting on 6 September 2022.  

 

The panel agreed to put eight candidates forward for preliminary interviews. These 

interviews were conducted by Roger Russell (Penna) and Aled Eurig (Independent Adviser 

to the Senedd Commission).  

 

Shortlist 

Following the preliminary interviews, a shortlist pack was received from Penna which 

contained a sift summary report which provided a breakdown of candidates as follows:  

• Recommended for interview (6 candidates);  

• Marginal for interview (3 candidates).  

The shortlist report also included brief career histories for each candidate and observations 

from Penna based on the preliminary interviews conducted.  

This document formed the basis of the shortlist meeting held on 06 September. 

The meeting on 06 September was attended by all panel members including Roger Russell. 

The panel agreed to invite six candidates for interview on 26 and 28 September and for 

those interviews to take place in person on the Tŷ Hywel estate. 

Penna then undertook references and due diligence interviews for each of the candidates. 

 

Final Interviews 

Interviews were held in person on 26th and 28th September on the Tŷ Hywel Estate. Two of 

the candidates requested their interview be conducted remotely. 

PAPA(6)-16-23-PTN3

Pack Page 7



 

 

 

Each interview lasted 45 minutes, and consisted of a range of competency based questions 

pre-agreed by the panel and designed to assess their suitability to the role and the skills and 

experience they would bring. 

 

During each interview, each panel member made assessments individually. Following 

completion of each interview, members of the selection panel considered all the evidence 

provided during each of the candidate’s interviews and an overall rating was applied.  

 

The completion of all interviews was further followed by a detailed discussion to agree the 

preferred candidates.  

 

The Senedd Commission accepted this recommendation on 6 October 2022 and proceeded 

to appoint. 

 

 

 

  

PAPA(6)-16-23-PTN3

Pack Page 8



 

 

 

2  A supplementary note on the number of cyber attacks experienced by the 

Commission. 

The Senedd ICT System and its users are targeted by thousands of cyber attacks on a daily basis. 

These include different types of email-based attacks such as phishing, direct probing of our 

infrastructure and website, as well as various web-based risks. Each year we block millions of 

emails, deal with thousands of phishing messages and web incidents, observe thousands of 

network/website scans, and address hundreds of device incidents. 

The below table provides some basic background information: 

 

Attack type / attack vector / event 2022* 
2023* – first three 

quarters 

Blocked email 1,118,315 529,188 

Phishing 76,075 39,312 

Firewall prevented attacks 41,600 14,990 

Firewall detected scans 13,335 5,379 

Web incidents / blocks 35,796 59,514 

Extended Detection and Remediation device incidents 346 267 

*Calendar Year 

In the past few years, the ICT and Broadcasting Service has also responded to DDoS (Distributed 

Denial of Service) attacks, provided guidance during a number of fraud attempts, and advised on 

technical matter relating to potential data governance and protection issues.  

 

PAPA(6)-16-23-PTN3

Pack Page 9



Dr Andrew Goodall 
Ysgrifennydd Parhaol 
Permanent Secretary 

Parc Cathays ● Cathays Park 
Caerdydd ● Cardiff 

CF10 3NQ 

Ffôn  ● Tel 0300 025 6935 
PS.PermanentSecretary@gov.wales 
Gwefan ● Website: www.gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd gohebu yn 
Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  Dilynwch y ddolen i gael arweiniad ar sut fyddwn yn trin a defnyddio'ch data, yn unol â'r Rheoliadau Diogelu Data 
Cyffredinol.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in 
Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. Please follow the link for guidance on how we will handle & use your data, in accordance with the 
General Data Protection Regulations.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en 

Mark Isherwood MS Chair, 
Public Accounts and Public Administration Committee 
Welsh Parliament 
Cardiff Bay 
CF99 1SN 

7 November 2023 

Dear Mr Isherwood 

Public Accounts and Public Administration Committee – Scrutiny of Accounts 

Welsh Government 2021-22 

Thank you for the copy of the PAPAC report on the Scrutiny of Accounts – Welsh 

Government 2021-22, which was published on 20 October 2023.  We are carefully 

considering the recommendations, but we are also currently focusing resources on 

ensuring that we meet the planned date for sign off of the 2022-23 accounts at the end 

of November.  I would hope to be in a position to respond positively to the 

recommendations of the Committee by the end of January 2024. 

Dr Andrew Goodall 
Ysgrifennydd Parhaol/ Permanent Secretary 
Llywodraeth Cymru/ Welsh Government  

PAPA(6)-16-23-PTN4

Pack Page 10

Agenda Item 2.4

http://www.gov.wales/
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en


Rebecca Evans AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol  
Minister for Finance and Local Government

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales 
Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Eich cyf/Your ref  
Ein cyf/Our ref:  RE/368/2023 

Mark Isherwood MS 
Chair 
Public Accounts and Public Administration Committee 
Senedd Cymru 
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff 
CF99 1SN 
SeneddPAPA@senedd.wales  

01 November 2023 

Dear Mark, 

Thank you for your letter on behalf of the committee in relation to the Legislative Consent 
Memorandum (LCM) on the Economic Activity of Public Bodies (Overseas Matters) Bill. I set 
out my response to your questions below: 

With regards to your first point, it is the view of the Welsh Government that consent is not 
required for Clauses 12 and 13. This is because both clauses apply to local government 
workers pensions which is reserved under paragraph 134 of Schedule 7A to the Government 
of Wales Act 2006 and the provisions do not have regard to devolved matters.  There are a 
limited number of occupational pensions which fall within the exception to the reservation in 
paragraph 134 (e.g., pensions for members of local authorities) however these are not 
relevant to clauses 12 or 13. Further, clause 13(3) amends an instrument which only applies 
in relation to Northern Ireland, which would be outside of the Senedd’s competence.  

In answer to your second point, Clause 15(3)(a) provides the Secretary of State with a 
regulation making power to be able to disapply s.17(5)(f) of the Local Government Act 1988 
(the 1988 Act). Clause 115(2) of the Procurement Act provides a power for Welsh Ministers 
(or a Minister of the Crown) to disapply the duty under section 17(1) of the 1988 Act so far as 
it relates to a relevant authority. Such regulations can include disapplying the duty in s.17(1) 
of the 1988 Act as it relates to “all non-commercial matters (see section 17(5) of the 1988 
Act) or those that are specified” (clause 115(3)(d) applies). The Senedd has legislative 
competence in relation to any provision of the Procurement Act which confers functions on 
contracting authorities which are devolved Welsh authorities or which confers a power to 
make regulations or issue guidance in relation to contracting authorities which are devolved 
Welsh authorities. Therefore, clause 15(3)(a) of the Bill arguably modifies the ability of the 
Welsh Ministers to exercise the power in clause 115(2) of the Procurement Act. However, the 

PAPA(6)-16-23-PTN5

Pack Page 11

Agenda Item 2.5

mailto:Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales
mailto:Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru
mailto:SeneddPAPA@senedd.wales


modified power will continue to allow Welsh Ministers to make regulations to disapply 
provisions of section 17(1) of the 1988 Act for relevant Welsh contracting authorities as they 
see fit.  
 
I hope these clarifications are satisfactory. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
Rebecca Evans AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol  
Minister for Finance and Local Government 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PAPA(6)-16-23-PTN5

Pack Page 12



Y Gwir Anrh/Rt Hon Mark Drakeford AS/MS 
Prif Weinidog Cymru/First Minister of Wales 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

      Gohebiaeth.Mark.Drakeford@llyw.cymru 
Correspondence.Mark.Drakeford@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Jayne Bryant MS 
Chair 
Children, Young People and Education Committee 

3 October 2023 

Dear Jayne, 

Ministerial appointments 

I am writing in response to your letter of 6 July regarding Ministerial Appointments. 

Our public appointments follow the Governance Code on Public Appointments, published by 
the Minister for the Cabinet Office in line with the Public Appointments Order in Council 
2016. The regulation of public appointments against the requirements of this Code is carried 
out by the Commissioner for Public Appointments who is appointed by the King and whose 
remit is independent of the Government and the Civil Service.  

The Commissioner’s functions are set out in the Public Appointments Order in Council 2016 
which sets out which appointments are covered by this Code. CETR was not a public 
appointment as listed in the agreement between the Senedd and the Welsh Government. 
As CETR is a new organisation, it only joined the Order in Council on 20 July 2023. 
However, all public appointments made to the Board of CETR have adhered to the code in 
principle.  

The appointment of the CETR Chief Executive role was somewhat unusual and sits outside 
the process which is concerned with the appointments of Non-Executives to Boards. I note 
the Minister for Education and Welsh Language wrote to you on 13 June; 

I appreciate the Committee have long-standing concerns about the pre-appointment 
hearing process for public appointments, but as the report acknowledges this was not 
a public appointment. The first person appointed as Chief Executive to the 
Commission is a Ministerial appointment as set out in Schedule 1 to the Tertiary 
Education & Research (Wales) Act 2022. However, in recognition of the significant 
role that the Committee plays in education and the importance of this appointment, I 
committed to an introductory hearing during the passage of the Act. This is an 
important distinction, not least because the appointment process for the Chief 
Executive is not regulated by the Commissioner for Public Appointments. 

PAPA(6)-16-23-PTN6

Pack Page 13

Agenda Item 2.6

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Mark.Drakeford@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Mark.Drakeford@gov.wales


 

 

Ministers have ultimate responsibility for appointments and thus the selection of those 
appointed rests with Ministers who are accountable to the Senedd for their decisions and 
actions. 
 
In addition to the Code, I have established the pre-appointment hearing process to ensure 
wider engagement with the Senedd previously agreed to introduce pre-appointment scrutiny 
of some Chair appointments by Senedd Committees in order to further improve the scrutiny 
and transparency of the public appointment making process. Pre-appointment scrutiny is 
held in the form of a pre-appointment hearing of the preferred candidate conducted by the 
relevant Senedd Committee. 
 
The team dealing with Public Appointments is very small and deals with over 500 
appointments. We are not seeking to extend the remit to include Chief Executive Officers or 
those deemed to be employed by the organisations they work for. This process will still be 
overseen by the Chairs of those Boards with whom you engage via the pre-appointment 
process. 
 
The latest version of the OiC is attached. We currently have circa 450 regulated 
appointments and a further 75 unregulated appointments. 
 
We do not keep the data in the format that you request. All appointments are advertised 
openly with each candidate assessed against the same criteria for the role in question. For 
all competitions there is full transparency of the appointee’s details, published here with the 
decision report. Decision reports are published once appointments have been made by the 
relevant Minister or Deputy Minister. 
 
In rare and exceptional cases, such as during Covid or a Health Board going into Special 
Measures, Ministers may decide to appoint a candidate without a competition. When this 
happens, we make the decision public alongside the reasons for doing so and, as per the 
Code, consult the Commissioner for Public Appointments in good time before the 
appointment is publicly announced. 
 
I hope this goes some way to responding to your interest.    
 

Yours sincerely, 

 
MARK DRAKEFORD 

 
 
 
 
 
Annex A – Order in Council 
Public-Appointments-Order-in-Council.pdf (papt-publicly-accessible-docs.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com) 

 
 
 

PAPA(6)-16-23-PTN6

Pack Page 14

https://www.gov.wales/decision-reports-2023
https://www.gov.wales/decision-reports-2023
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fpapt-publicly-accessible-docs.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com%2FPublic-Appointments-Order-in-Council.pdf&data=05%7C01%7CSian.Bryant%40gov.wales%7C5f56f57493b54671e4f708dba3d83f5a%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C638283921385840770%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=cExWVLcSe6RPUKxRzF%2BKlWQcmXWXQvXdMh8QIUEZvtY%3D&reserved=0


 

 

 

7 November 2023 

Dear Mark, 

You wrote to me on 5 July 2023 concerning an exchange of correspondence between the Public 
Accounts and Public Administration Committee (PAPAC), Transport for Wales (TfW), and others about 
the procurement of rolling stock by TfW. 

In your letter, you suggested that the Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure Committee 
should scrutinise these matters alongside broader policy issues. You added that your Committee 
reserves the right to scrutinise TfW on matters that specifically relate to PAPAC’s remit if the 
Committee feels there are further issues to resolve. Therefore, I thought it would be helpful to provide 
you with an update on the Climate Change, Environment, and Infrastructure Committee’s immediate 
intentions in this policy area. 

Later this term, the CCEI Committee will be undertaking a detailed piece of work on rail. The work will 
take place over three meetings. The first will focus on hearing from stakeholders and passenger 
groups, including representatives of Transport Focus, Rail Future Wales, and others. The second 
meeting will consist of our annual scrutiny session with Transport for Wales, which will consider the 
organisation’s functions and responsibilities. Finally, the Committee will hold a scrutiny session on 
transport matters with the Deputy Minister for Climate Change. Sessions with TfW and the Deputy 
Minister will include scrutiny of rail services as part of the inquiry. 

We intend to report on our work early in 2024. We expect this will include recommendations to the 
Welsh Government and TfW. We will ensure that you are kept informed of developments and that 
any matters related to PAPAC’s remit are brought to your attention as part of this process. 

Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd,  
yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith 
— 
Climate Change, Environment, 
and Infrastructure Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

SeneddHinsawdd@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddHinsawdd 

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddClimate@senedd.wales 

senedd.wales/SeneddClimate 
0300 200 6565 

Mark Isherwood MS 
Chair of the Public Accounts and Public 
Administration Committee 

PAPA(6)-16-23-PTN7

Pack Page 15

Agenda Item 2.7

mailto:SeneddHinsawdd@senedd.cymru
mailto:SeneddClimate@senedd.wales


 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 
Llyr Gruffydd MS,  
Chair, Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure Committee 

 

 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

PAPA(6)-16-23-PTN7

Pack Page 16



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 17

Agenda Item 3By virtue of paragraph(s) vii of Standing Order 17.42



Governance arrangements relating to 
an employment dispute at Amgueddfa 
Cymru – National Museum Wales

November 2023

Pack Page 44



page 2 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

We welcome correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh and English. Corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to delay. Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a galwadau ffôn yn 
Gymraeg a Saesneg. Ni fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.

Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg. This document is also available in Welsh. 

This report has been prepared for presentation to the Senedd 
under the Government of Wales Act 2006.

Pack Page 45



page 3 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

Contents

Key messages 4

About this report 4

Key findings 7

Main report
1  Amgueddfa Cymru did not have adequate policies in place to deal  

 with concerns raised by its senior officers and/or against a  
 non-executive Board members  11

2 The employment dispute adversely impacted Amgueddfa Cymru’s 
governance arrangements between September 2021 and  
November 2022, which contributed to significant and potentially  
avoidable costs to help bring the dispute to an end, including  
£419,915 to date for legal and other professional services 15 

3 Amgueddfa Cymru’s decision-making process concerning the  
resolution of the employment dispute with the former Director  
General was fundamentally flawed for various reasons 21

4 The terms of the settlement agreement for the former Director  
General/ Accounting Officer, amounting to potential costs of £325,698  
are, in my view, novel, contentious and repercussive and Amgueddfa  
Cymru has not been able to demonstrate that it has acted in the  
best interests of the charity or that the settlement represents 
value for public money 27

5 In the context of the Welsh Government being a party to the  
settlement agreement and the longstanding dispute that gave rise  
to it, it is unclear to me whether it applied all relevant procedures for 
its own consideration and approval of the agreement 32

Pack Page 46



page 4 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

About this report 
1 This report describes issues arising at Amgueddfa Cymru – National 

Museum of Wales. 

2 Amgueddfa Cymru is a Welsh Government Sponsored Body, established 
by Royal Charter, and receives the bulk of its funding from the Welsh 
Government1. It is also subject to the regulatory oversight of the Charity 
Commission, and therefore regulated by both the Welsh Government and 
the Charity Commission.

3 Amgueddfa Cymru’s President has overall responsibility for the Board 
of Trustees and is personally responsible to the Welsh Ministers for the 
conduct of Amgueddfa Cymru’s affairs and its Trustees. The President is a 
Welsh Government public appointment.

4 The Director General of Amgueddfa Cymru is its chief executive officer. 
The Director General is also designated as Amgueddfa Cymru’s 
Accounting Officer. 

5 I have been unable to satisfy myself that its trustees discharged their legal 
responsibility to make sound and informed decisions in the best interests 
of Amgueddfa Cymru when they: 

• decided to engage in a mediation/negotiation process with its Director 
General/Accounting Officer2;

• decided to delegate responsibility for approving the settlement 
arrangements to two trustees; and 

• set the terms of the delegations.
6 I therefore have significant doubt that the decision-making process that 

will result in payments to be made to the former Director General under 
the terms of a settlement agreement dated December 2022, complied with 
charity law, and that the payments arising from this process, which are 
disclosed within the Remuneration Report, conform with the framework of 
authorities governing them. For these reasons, on 29 September 2023, I 
qualified my ‘regularity’ audit opinion on Amgueddfa Cymru’s Consolidated 
Accounts 2021-22.

1 Although Amgueddfa Cymru is a recognised charity it is also a Welsh Government arm’s length 
body, receiving circa £38.3 million from the Welsh Government during 2022-23, which equates to 
87% of its total income.

2 From here on described as the former Director General.

Key messages

Pack Page 47



page 5 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

7 I also included an ‘other matter’ statement in my audit certificate on 
Amgueddfa Cymru’s 2021-22 accounts to draw attention to disclosures 
made in its Annual Governance Statement regarding significant 
deficiencies in its governance arrangements during the year. These 
deficiencies arose due to a fundamental breakdown in the former Director 
General’s and former Chief Operating Officer/Deputy Director General’s3 
relationships with the former President.

8 I commented on these governance matters in a substantive report 
on Amgueddfa Cymru’s 2020-21 Consolidated Accounts in January 
20224. Aware of the weaknesses in Amgueddfa Cymru’s governance 
arrangements, the Welsh Government prioritised a review of Amgueddfa 
Cymru as part of its wider Tailored Review programme for its arm’s length 
bodies. The review commenced in February 2022.

9 This report refers to an employment dispute involving Amgueddfa Cymru, 
its former Director General, its former Chief Operating Officer, and its 
former President. My remit does not extend to resolution of employment 
disputes, and I do not therefore report on its merits nor do I detail every 
element of its complex and protracted resolution.

10 I do report on concerns regarding the payments made, and due to be 
made, by Amgueddfa Cymru to the former Director General and the 
circumstances surrounding those payments, including the involvement 
of Amgueddfa Cymru’s Board of Trustees and the Welsh Government5. I 
do not, however, report more generally on the performance of the former 
Director General or President in undertaking their respective roles.

11 My auditors and I have examined relevant evidence and information 
made available to us by Amgueddfa Cymru and where necessary sought 
clarification from Senior Executives. We have also reviewed certain 
evidence relating to Welsh Government processes but have not examined 
all aspects of the Welsh Government’s involvement in the employment 
dispute. 

12 My auditors shared a draft of this report (or extracts of it), containing 
preliminary findings and conclusions with all parties being given the 
opportunity to comment. All comments received were carefully considered 
and where considered necessary or helpful amendments were made.

13 The conclusions set out in this report are based on the evidence reviewed. 
I have made recommendations for both Amgueddfa Cymru and the Welsh 
Government.

3 From here on described as former Chief Operating Officer.
4 Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales, Financial Report 2020/21, January 2022
5 The former Director General, the former Chief Operating Officer, the former President, and 

other Trustees (and their periods of service) relevant to this report are as set out in the 
Accountability Section of the Amgueddfa Cymru Statement of Accounts for 2021-22. Pack Page 48

https://museum.wales/reports/


page 6 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

14 Alongside my examination of this matter, I and my audit team also 
considered the scope and findings of the Welsh Government’s ‘Tailored 
Review’, whose report was published in July 20236. The Tailored Review 
report made 77 recommendations of which 27 related to Amgueddfa 
Cymru’s governance arrangements.

6 Tailored Review Panel, Amgueddfa Cymru/Museum Wales, Final report of the Tailored 
Review Panel, July 2023 Pack Page 49

https://www.gov.wales/national-museum-wales-tailored-review
https://www.gov.wales/national-museum-wales-tailored-review


page 7 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

15 In addition to the serious governance failures referred to above and 
covered in my substantive report on Amgueddfa Cymru’s accounts of 
2020-21 and in my qualified audit opinion on the 2021-22 accounts, there 
are other matters that I consider that it would be in the public interest to 
bring to the public’s attention. In particular:

• the terms of the settlement agreement for the former Director General 
are significant and, in my view, novel, contentious and repercussive. 
Amgueddfa Cymru has not been able to demonstrate that it has acted in 
its best interests as a charity or that the settlement represents value for 
public money.

• it is unclear to me whether the Welsh Government applied all relevant 
procedures for its own consideration and approval of the agreement.

• the overall potential cost of the proposed settlement with the former 
Director General, the ill-health retirement of the former Chief Operating 
Officer and the resulting legal and advisory fees exceeds £750,000. 
Some or all of these costs could have been avoided.

16 These issues are expanded upon below and in the body of this report.

The employment dispute

17 In June 2021, the former Director General and the former Chief Operating 
Officer submitted separate complaints to the Welsh Government, relating 
to alleged inappropriate actions and behaviour on the part of the former 
President of Amgueddfa Cymru. 

18 At the time, Amgueddfa Cymru did not have adequate policies in place 
to deal with concerns raised by its senior officers and/or against a 
non-executive Board member. The Welsh Government dealt with both 
complaints under its own complaints handling process because the former 
President was a Welsh Government appointee. 

19 Both officers also submitted grievances to Amgueddfa Cymru in 
September 2021 and, in October 2021 the former Director General 
submitted claims to the Wales Employment Tribunal against three 
respondents, namely Amgueddfa Cymru, Amgueddfa Cymru’s former 
President and the Welsh Government.

Key findings

Pack Page 50



page 8 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

20 The complaints to the Welsh Government followed earlier tensions in the 
two officers’ relationships with the former President. The employment 
dispute adversely affected Amgueddfa Cymru’s governance arrangements 
from September 2021 to November 2022, which contributed to significant 
and potentially avoidable expenditure to help bring the dispute to an end.

21 The Welsh Government appointed an independent investigator to examine 
the complaints. The investigator’s report was issued in November 2021. 
While not finding that the then President had clearly breached the terms 
of his appointment, it found that his behaviour had not always reached the 
highest standards and that his actions had left him open to accusations 
that he had not always been as objective and open as he could have 
been.

22 In January 2022, both the former Director General and former Chief 
Operating Officer submitted further grievances to Amgueddfa Cymru 
relating to what they alleged was bullying and discriminatory treatment by 
the former President. Following mediation in June 2022, the former Chief 
Operating Officer retired on ill-health grounds at the end of July 2022 and 
received a payment to settle any potential claim he may have had against 
Amgueddfa Cymru. We did not identify any concerns with the decision-
making process leading to that payment.

23 In August 2022, the then Director General submitted another claim to an 
employment tribunal. Although the background to the claim was similar 
in nature, the Director General’s second claim included allegations 
of victimisation, disability discrimination and suffering detriment as a 
consequence of making protected disclosures. This second tribunal claim 
was only against Amgueddfa Cymru and its former President.

24 Amgueddfa Cymru began a mediation process with the former Director 
General in October 2022. The former President and the Welsh 
Government were also parties to this process. 

25 Amgueddfa Cymru’s decision-making process concerning the resolution 
of the employment dispute with the former Director General was 
fundamentally flawed for various reasons, as set out in Part 3 of this 
report.

Pack Page 51



page 9 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

The settlement agreement for the former Director General

26 The mediation process led ultimately to a settlement agreement on 5 
December 2022, as a result of which both tribunal claims were withdrawn 
and both the then President and the then Director General agreed to end 
their appointments with Amgueddfa Cymru. The settlement agreement 
was signed by the former Director General and the former President in 
their personal capacities, Amgueddfa Cymru’s Vice President on behalf 
of Amgueddfa Cymru, and the Welsh Government’s Director of Human 
Resources on behalf of the Welsh Ministers.

27 The terms of the settlement agreement for the former Director General 
are significant and, in my view, novel, contentious and repercussive. 
Amgueddfa Cymru has not been able to demonstrate that it has acted in 
its best interests as a charity or that the settlement represents value for 
public money.

28 In the context of the Welsh Government being a party to the settlement 
agreement and the longstanding dispute that gave rise to it, it is unclear to 
me whether it applied all relevant procedures for its own consideration and 
approval of the agreement (see Part 5 of this report).

29 As part of the settlement agreement the former Director General is 
currently in a notice period running to the end of September 2024, during 
which he is on ‘sabbatical leave’. His job title is ‘Emeritus Fellow of the 
Museum’ and he is no longer performing the role of Director General.

30 As part of the agreement, the former President recused himself of his role 
from 17 November 2022 and stepped down from his post on 31 December 
2022, three months earlier than the scheduled end of his term.

31 In February 2023, following the agreement, the independent grievance 
investigation officer appointed to consider the Director General’s 
grievances issued his report. The report did not find that the former 
President breached the Nolan principles7 (the Seven Principles of Public 
Life) though it upheld some aspects of the grievances (See paragraph 
49). 

7 Selflessness, Integrity, Objectivity, Accountability, Openness, Honesty and LeadershipPack Page 52



page 10 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

Costs arising from the employment dispute

32 As at 22 August 2023 the overall potential cost of the proposed settlement 
with the former Director General, the ill-health retirement of the former 
Chief Operating Officer and the resulting legal and advisory fees stood at 
£757,613. Of this, Amgueddfa Cymru is expecting to be able to recover 
£131,230 through insurance, leaving costs to the public purse of £626,383. 
These figures do not include all related costs (see paragraph 36)

33 The £757,613 breaks down as follows:

• former Director General settlement: potential costs of £325,698, 
comprising:

• £39,794 salary and £13,079 pension and national insurance 
contributions for the period 17 November 2022 to 31 March 2023;
 - £130,073 salary and £42,752 pension and national insurance 

contributions for the period 1 April 2023 to 30 September 20248;
 - £50,000 tax free as compensation for injury to his feelings;
 - £30,000 maximum expenses for the period 1 April 2023 to 30 

September 20249; 
 - £20,000 payment for loss of office on 30 September 2024.

• former Chief Operating Officer: £12,000 on ill health retirement on 31 
July 2022 to settle any potential claim against Amgueddfa Cymru.

• external legal and other professional services: £419,915 to date.
34 The expected contribution from insurance includes £38,000 already paid 

towards the compensation for injury to feelings and an expected £93,230 
towards costs of external legal and professional services.

35 The Welsh Government is contributing £40,500 to the overall costs set out 
above. Of this, £20,500 is a contribution towards external services for the 
mediation process and £10,000 is towards the compensation for injury to 
feelings. The Welsh Government will also contribute £10,000 towards the 
payment for loss of office. 

36 The costs above do not include the time spent by senior Amgueddfa 
Cymru staff dealing with the issues, the resulting costs of Welsh 
Government, including officials’ time, or my additional audit fee. Nor 
do they include costs arising from the recruitment of new trustees or 
Amgueddfa Cymru staff, or the cost of employing the former Director 
General during his recusal from the role between 17 November 2022 
and 31 December 2022. They also exclude any expenses for the former 
Director General in the period 17 November 2022 to 31 March 2023.

8 All salary costs are at 2022-23 salary rates and subject to pay inflation.
9 Travel and subsistence, and other administrative expenses (subject to provision of 

appropriate invoices)—as at 22 August 2023, the former Director General had not made an 
expenses claim. Pack Page 53



page 11 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

Amgueddfa Cymru did not have adequate policies in place 
to deal with concerns raised by its most senior officers and/
or against a non-executive Board member
37 In June 2021, the former Director General and the former Chief Operating Officer 

submitted separate complaints to the Welsh Government, relating to alleged 
inappropriate actions and behaviour on the part of the former President. The 
former Director General and the former Chief Operating Officer considered that 
some of the former President’s behaviour towards them constituted bullying 
and discrimination. The complaints followed earlier tensions in the relationships 
with the former President. Welsh Government told us, that on receipt of the 
complaints, and on several occasions subsequently, it offered both complainants 
the opportunity of informal resolution to the dispute, but the offers were not taken 
up. 

38 In such circumstances it is important that public bodies have both informal and 
formal arrangements in place to resolve issues early, prevent matters escalating 
and avoid a breakdown in relationships. Amgueddfa Cymru had an established 
grievance policy and procedure, but it only applied to staff employed by 
Amgueddfa Cymru. It was not adequate to deal with the complaints of the former 
Director General and the former Chief Operating Officer because:

• the policy required any staff member wishing to raise a grievance formally to 
do so in writing to their immediate manager. Where the grievance was against 
the manager the policy required the matter to be raised with a more senior 
manager. As the Director General of Amgueddfa Cymru, the former Director 
General did not have a more senior manager with whom to formally raise a 
grievance.

• the former Chief Operating Officer would have been required to submit his 
grievances to his line manager, the former Director General, who, in my view, 
would have been conflicted, as their concerns were of a similar nature.

• the grievance policy did not set out what process should be followed if a 
grievance related to a non-executive Board member.

39 Although the grievance policy did not provide a route for considering their 
grievances, on 2 September 2021 the former Director General and former Chief 
Operating Officer submitted grievances to the Head of Human Resources at 
Amgueddfa Cymru. Amgueddfa Cymru acknowledged that the substance of 
the grievances was similar to that of their complaints submitted to the Welsh 
Government and so requested that the complainants await the outcome of the 
complaints made to the Welsh Government.

Pack Page 54



page 12 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

40 Amgueddfa Cymru expected that this would provide time for it to develop 
a new senior officer grievance policy, which would be suitable for 
considering and determining the grievances of the former Director General 
and former Chief Operating Officer.

41 The former Director General and former Chief Operating Officer agreed to 
this request but requested workplace ‘reasonable adjustments’ be made, 
including minimising direct interactions between the former President, the 
former Director General and the former Chief Operating Officer.

42 I consider that these adjustments had a detrimental effect on the overall 
governance arrangements of Amgueddfa Cymru. However, the former 
Director General has told my auditors that the adjustments were not the 
cause of poor board governance and that he had been raising governance 
concerns with both Amgueddfa’s President and the Welsh Government 
without success since December 2020. He told us that he: 

‘took the step of complaining to Welsh Government, and subsequently 
raising a grievance to the Museum, because all prior efforts to resolve 
governance concerns informally between [the Chief Operating Officer], 
myself and the Senior Executive Team, and the Officers, had come to 
nothing’. 

43 The former Director General has provided me with several items of 
correspondence confirming that he had been raising governance concerns 
internally and with the Welsh Government. For example, I note that he 
raised his concerns that the Board of Trustees was meeting in closed 
session without officers being present and that this was in breach of the 
Board’s Regulations but was informed by the former President that he had 
no role in governance issues. 

44 In my view, whilst it would not have been appropriate for the Director 
General to have attended meetings about his grievances, it is difficult to 
see how the Director General could effectively discharge his Accounting 
Officer responsibilities without attending other meetings of the Board. 
Therefore, the Amgueddfa Cymru Board should not have agreed to the 
adjustments requested and should have sought an alternative approach to 
addressing the breakdown in relationships. 

45 My auditors asked the Welsh Government how the former Director 
General’s concerns regarding governance were addressed. The Welsh 
Government told my auditors that it had sought to address concerns by 
offering informal mediation, holding weekly catch-ups between the then 
Director General and the Welsh Government’s Head of Human Resources 
and remaining in regular contact with the then President. Furthermore, 
the Welsh Government brought forward a tailored review of Amgueddfa 
Cymru’s governance arrangements to August 2022 which reported in July 
2023, setting out several recommendations for improving the existing 
arrangements. 

Pack Page 55



page 13 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

46 The former Director General told my auditors that he had been raising 
serious concerns as early as December 2020, and he has provided my 
auditors with copies of correspondence he sent to the Welsh Government 
from May 2021 onwards raising governance concerns. The 2023 tailored 
review report (paragraph 45) identified governance concerns and 
made recommendations for improvement. In my view the length of time 
understandably needed to undertake such a wide-ranging review meant 
that more immediate action was also necessary. 

47 During the period covered by this report, Amgueddfa Cymru had a 
whistleblowing policy to enable employees to raise concerns about 
wrongdoing at work. Having reviewed the policy in place at the time, in 
my view the whistleblowing policy needed to be clearer about the routes 
open to staff to raise concerns about actions of members of the Board of 
Trustees.

48 The policy set out that employees could make whistleblowing disclosures 
to the Treasurer or the Chair of the Audit Committee who were both 
trustees, but it made no reference to the fact that employees could make 
disclosures directly to the Welsh Government as Amgueddfa Cymru’s 
sponsor, or to the Charity Commission for England & Wales or myself as 
statutory ‘prescribed persons’ to receive disclosures. While I accept that 
the former Director General had raised several governance concerns, the 
adjustments he requested, which meant that neither he nor the former 
Chief Operating Officer would attend Board and Committee meetings 
(either in person or virtually), necessarily had a further detrimental impact 
on Amgueddfa Cymru’s governance. 

Pack Page 56



page 14 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

49 In February 2023, after settlement had been reached with the Director 
General, the independent grievance investigation officer appointed 
to consider the grievances of the former Director General and Chief 
Operating Officer issued his report. The report did not find that the former 
President breached the Nolan principles (the Seven Principles of Public 
Life). The report did not uphold many of the grievances, but did uphold 
some aspects in part or in full including: 

• the former President publicly and privately undermined the former 
Director General, Chief Operating Officer and other staff when meetings 
were called in breach of the Regulations of the Board of Trustees.

• the Board of Trustees held closed sessions without officers, including 
the former Director General and Chief Operating Officer, being invited 
to attend and failed to deposit the minutes and agendas of the closed 
meetings.

• the former President undermined the former Director General by 
suggesting in an email he sent to him on 21 May 2021 that he was 
incorrect about the contentions he made in respect of closed meetings, 
and that he had no role in governance issues. 

• on some occasions specified in the report, the former President’s 
actions broke the trust that is essential between the Trustees and staff

Pack Page 57



page 15 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

The employment dispute adversely affected 
Amgueddfa Cymru’s governance arrangements 
between September 2021 and November 2022, which 
contributed to significant and potentially avoidable 
costs to help bring the dispute to an end, including 
£419,915 to date for legal and other professional 
services
50 Because of the workplace adjustments agreed, regular meetings of the 

Amgueddfa Cymru Board of Trustees did not take place during the period 
September 2021 to May 2022. Board business was conducted by email. 
If Board members had questions on a Board paper, they were required to 
email the question to the Board Secretary, who would forward the query 
to the relevant department and a response would then be provided to 
the initiator by email. Amgueddfa Cymru has told my auditors that some 
meetings did take place in this period, for example in January 2022, 
however we have seen no written minutes.

51 Amgueddfa Cymru’s governing documents – the Royal Charter and 
Statutes – do not include any provision for the Board to make decisions by 
email outside meetings. Any decision taken outside a Board meeting is to 
be taken by all Board members signing a written resolution to approve it.

52 While the Board acceded to these email arrangements, in my view they 
constituted poor governance practice with a detrimental effect on Board 
efficiency, effectiveness, and proper decision-making. Board members 
were not aware of others’ views and therefore could not make decisions 
based on collective knowledge, which resulted in a lack of proper collective 
scrutiny of decisions.

Pack Page 58



page 16 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

53 These arrangements also impeded the ability of the former Director 
General to properly exercise his Accounting Officer role set out in the 
Amgueddfa Cymru framework document, including:

• ensuring that significant problems are notified to the [Welsh 
Government] sponsor department as quickly as possible; and

• providing the sponsor department with such information about 
[Amgueddfa Cymru’s] performance and expenditure as the sponsor 
department may reasonably require;

• Responsibilities in respect of the Museum’s Board of Trustees… 
 - advising the board on the discharge of its responsibilities as set out in 

[the framework] document, relevant legislation, the Minister’s annual 
Remit letter or other communication; and any other guidance that 
may issue from time to time; 

 - advising the board on the Museum’s performance against its aims 
and objectives; 

 - ensuring that financial considerations are taken fully into account by 
the board at all stages in reaching and executing its decisions and 
that suitable financial appraisal techniques are followed; 

 - taking action as appropriate in accordance with the terms of the 
accounting officer’s memorandum if the board or its Chairperson 
is contemplating a course of action involving a transaction which 
the Director-General considers would infringe the requirements of 
propriety or regularity, or does not represent prudent or economical 
administration, or, efficiency or effectiveness, questionable feasibility 
or is unethical.

54 During the period, September 2021 to November 2022, the Trustees 
held online meetings specifically to discuss the ongoing consequences 
of the grievances raised by the former Director General and former Chief 
Operating Officer. The former President told my auditors that he was not 
involved in these discussions.

55 No contemporaneous minutes were kept of the meetings and there was 
no written record of decisions taken. It is therefore unclear what was 
discussed, what information was provided to the Trustees, and what if any 
decisions were taken.

56 The former Director General and former Chief Operating Officer became 
aware that meetings were taking place. However, they were excluded from 
participating and were not sighted of any meeting papers, resulting in an 
escalation of distrust between them and the Board. 

57 From October 2021, the employment dispute continued to escalate 
leading to Amgueddfa Cymru appointing legal advisors to advise on the 
employment issues and on associated governance matters. Exhibit 1 sets 
out the key events which took place between October 2021 and August 
2022.

Pack Page 59



page 17 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

Exhibit 1: chronology of key dates relating to the employment dispute, October 2021 to 
August 2022

Date / period* Event

1 October 2021 Amgueddfa Cymru’s Board of Trustees appointed a legal advisor from 
the Welsh Government procurement framework to:
• review relevant governing documents, policies, and related 

documents;
• advise the Trustees how they can continue to operate the Museum;
• advise the Trustees on making a serious incident report to the Charity 

Commission and related issues;
• advise in relation to responding to the grievances and what actions the 

Trustees are able to take; and
• advise throughout the ongoing dispute.
The former President has stated that he was not involved in the 
procurement process.

8 October 2021 The legal advisors appointed on 1 October 2021 submitted a Serious 
Incident Report to the Charity Commission on Amgueddfa Cymru’s 
behalf. 
A second Serious Incident Report was sent to the Charity Commission 
on 13 October 2023  

25 October 2021 The former Director General submitted a claim to an employment 
tribunal against Amgueddfa Cymru, its former President and the Welsh 
Government. The claim was similar in nature to the former Director 
General’s earlier complaint to the Welsh Government and grievance to 
Amgueddfa Cymru.

Pack Page 60



page 18 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

Date / period* Event

30 November 
2021

The investigator appointed by the Welsh Government to examine 
complaints made by the former Director General and former Chief 
Operating Officer reported her findings and conclusions.
She found:
• ‘There are findings in this report that the President has in some 

respects undermined the Senior Executive Team, the Director General 
and the Deputy Director General. He has put undue pressure on the 
Director General to resign. He has also, by his actions, left himself 
open to suspicions that he has not been completely open with the 
Executive or Trustees.’ ‘However, a sense has been gained of a taking 
up of positions on each side, with the different parties concentrating 
on promoting their own views when compromise might have been in 
the better interests of the Museum.’’ 

• ‘Also the Director General and the Deputy Director General could 
have raised their concerns formally at an earlier stage and it is found 
that President should have paid more heed to the complaints that 
were raised informally.’

7 January 2022 Former Director General wrote to the Charity Commission highlighting 
that the final wording of the Annual Governance Statement had not been 
agreed, which could mean that Amgueddfa Cymru would miss the 31 
January deadline for submitting its Annual Report and Accounts and that 
there were governance issues that needed to be resolved. 

19 January 2022 Amgueddfa Cymru’s Board of Trustees appointed a further legal 
advisor through the procurement framework to provide advice on the 
employment dispute.
The former President has stated that he was not involved in the 
procurement process.

20 January 2022 The former Director General and the former Chief Operating Officer each 
submitted further grievances to Amgueddfa Cymru.

Pack Page 61



page 19 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

Date / period* Event

11 February 2022 Amgueddfa Cymru received a letter from the Deputy Minister for Arts and 
Sport, and Chief Whip following her consideration of the findings arising 
from the Welsh Government’s own investigation of the complaints made.
The letter made clear that the findings of the investigation would not 
be shared with Amgueddfa Cymru while there was an outstanding 
employment tribunal claim.
The Deputy Minister’s letter set out actions that needed to be taken 
in the light of investigation findings. She stated her expectation that 
Amgueddfa Cymru would expedite the grievance process for both the 
former Director General and the former Chief Operating Officer. She 
also informed Amgueddfa Cymru that she would be: ‘registering with the 
[Charity] Commission my grave concerns about the current operation 
of the Museum and inviting the Commission to exercise its statutory 
regulatory powers.’

10 March 2022 Amgueddfa Cymru’s Board of Trustees adopted a ‘…senior individual 
grievance policy’ which made provision for ‘an individual to raise issues 
about their employment, the actions of fellow employees or the actions of 
Officers or Trustees of the Board that affect them.’
The policy sets out the process senior officers should follow in the 
event of them making a grievance, it also included arrangements for the 
independent investigation of such grievances and an independent appeal 
process.

23 March 2022 Amgueddfa Cymru’s Board of Trustees agreed to the appointment of an 
independent investigator to investigate the former Director General’s and 
former Chief Operating Officer’s grievances.

23 June 2022 Mediation took place to resolve the dispute involving the former Chief 
Operating Officer.

31 July 2022 The former Chief Operating Officer retired and received a payment 
from Amgueddfa Cymru of £12,000 to settle any potential claim he may 
have had against Amgueddfa Cymru and also a six-month contractual 
payment in lieu of notice. 
Payment was approved by Amgueddfa Cymru’s Board of Trustees and 
signed off by the Welsh Government’s Additional Accounting Officer. We 
did not identify any concerns with the decision process leading to that 
payment.

Pack Page 62



page 20 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

Date / period* Event

12 August 2022 Amgueddfa Cymru received confirmation that the former Director 
General had submitted a second claim to the employment tribunal.
This claim was only against Amgueddfa Cymru and its President. 
Although the background to the claims was similar in nature, this claim 
noted whistleblowing detriment, victimisation and disability discrimination 
(failure to make reasonable adjustments).

End of August 
2022

Amgueddfa Cymru’s Senior Executive Team sent a letter to the Board 
of Trustees to request a resolution to the situation as soon as possible. 
The Board of Trustees confirmed they had written a letter to the former 
Director General to urge him to enter mediation so that both parties could 
resolve the dispute, and the organisation could move on.

58 The failure of Amgueddfa Cymru to have proper and timely arrangements 
in place to enable it to examine and resolve the governance concerns 
raised by the then Director General and then Chief Operating Officer 
during the period December 2020 to October 2021 led to the situation 
escalating, relationships deteriorating and the efficiency and effectiveness 
of Amgueddfa Cymru’s operations being compromised. In my view, these 
deficiencies in governance arrangements contributed to significant and 
potentially avoidable costs.

59 Part four of this report considers costs arising from the terms of the 
settlement agreement for the former Director General. Separate to this, 
Amgueddfa Cymru has provided my auditors with a breakdown of its 
expenditure on external legal and other professional services relating 
to the employment dispute. The total amounts to £419,915 to date. The 
majority of the costs reported above have fallen to Amgueddfa Cymru. 
However, Amgueddfa Cymru has is now expecting to recoup £93,230 of 
the costs through insurance. The Welsh Government has also contributed 
£20,500 to costs associated with the mediation process (see paragraph 
119 and footnote 17).

Pack Page 63



page 21 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

Amgueddfa Cymru’s decision-making process 
concerning the resolution of the employment dispute 
with the former Director General was fundamentally 
flawed for various reasons
60 The former President told my auditors, that as early as July 2021 he had 

proposed engaging in a mediation process, however the then Director 
General and the then Chief Operating Officer had refused to agree to the 
proposal.

61 The former Director General has told my auditors that he, the Welsh 
Government, the Board of Trustees and the President had all agreed 
in May 2022 to judicial mediation (ie mediation presided over by an 
Employment Tribunal judge) in November 2022. However, Amgueddfa 
Cymru maintain that while judicial mediation was proposed in March 
2022 the former Director General did not consent to this. The Welsh 
Government told my auditors that it made multiple offers of mediation in 
respect of the dispute. 

62 After receiving the Board of Trustees letter in August 2022 (see Exhibit 
1), the former Director General agreed to an alternative form of mediation 
on condition that he could select the mediator. Given the situation and the 
need to resolve the matter, Amgueddfa Cymru’s Board of Trustees agreed 
in principle to appoint and pay the costs of a mediator chosen by the 
former Director General. 

63 On 28 September 2022, Amgueddfa Cymru’s Head of HR and its external 
legal advisor met the former Director General’s nominated mediator. 
Following the meeting his nominated mediator was appointed and the 
mediation process began in October 2022.

64 I am unclear whether Amgueddfa Cymru’s Board of Trustees or officers of 
Amgueddfa Cymru made the decisions to enter the mediation process and 
to appoint the former Director General’s nominated mediator. I am also 
not clear as to when exactly those decisions were made. However, it is 
apparent that on 5 October 2022, Amgueddfa Cymru’s Board of Trustees 
met to consider these matters. The minutes of the meeting record that the 
then President voluntarily recused himself. The then President has told my 
auditors that he was also not involved in Amgueddfa Cymru’s subsequent 
decision making regarding the resolution of the dispute and I accept 
this was the case. The 5 October meeting was another in a series of 
meetings focused on developments in the employment dispute. No papers 
were provided to members of the Board to inform their discussions and 
decision-making. 

Pack Page 64



page 22 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

65 When, in June 2023, my auditors requested minutes of the 5 October 2022 
meeting, Amgueddfa Cymru drafted retrospective minutes of the meeting 
(some eight months after the meeting took place). The minutes recorded 
that Amgueddfa Cymru’s external legal advisors:

‘provided an update to Trustees regarding proposals for mediation. 
The most immediate concern was for the Board to confirm who should 
represent the Museum [Amgueddfa Cymru] in the mediation process 
and to delegate authority to those representatives allowing them to bind 
the Museum to any settlement arrangements agreed with the Director 
General subject to support of Welsh Government and the Museum’s D&O 
underwriters. IT WAS RESOLVED, accordingly, that the Museum should 
be represented by the Vice President … and [another named trustee] with 
authority to bind the Museum as noted above.’

66 Amgueddfa Cymru’s Governance Manager10 sent the retrospective 
minutes to the current Trustees to approve by special resolution. The 
minutes were not comprehensive though did include the resolution to 
delegate responsibility to represent Amgueddfa Cymru in the mediation 
process and to bind the organisation to any settlement arrangements 
agreed with the former Director General. 

67 I note that several of the trustees who in June 2023 signed the special 
resolution approving the minutes of 5 October 2022, had not been at the 
meeting. Some had not even been appointed at the time. As the minutes 
were not contemporaneous, I cannot be certain that they provide an 
accurate record of the meeting. Furthermore, I have significant doubt 
whether the resolution signed by Trustees in June 2023 was legally 
effective.

68 One of the trustees to whom the Board of Trustees granted delegated 
authority – allowing them to bind Amgueddfa Cymru to any settlement 
arrangements agreed with the former Director General subject to the 
support of the Welsh Government and Amgueddfa Cymru’s underwriters 
– was its then Vice President. The Vice President was designated an 
‘Officer’ under Amgueddfa Cymru’s governing documents. However, the 
other trustee appointed was not an ‘Officer’. This is significant because 
the governing documents only enable the Board to delegate decisions to 
‘Officers’ or to a committee of trustees.

69 The minutes of the meeting of 5 October 2022 do not specify whether the 
delegation granted was an ‘Officer’ delegation or a ‘committee’ delegation. 
If it was a delegation to Officers, then it was flawed because the second 
delegate was not categorised as such.

10 Amgueddfa Cymru had appointed to a Governance Manager role following the retirement of 
the previous Board Secretary. Pack Page 65



page 23 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

70 It may be arguable that the appointment of the delegates could constitute 
a committee even though the Board of Trustees did not expressly say 
so. However, if the delegation granted was to a committee, it does not 
contain the other matters required of a committee, such as a provision for 
presentation of reports to the Board of Trustees. I consider the failure of 
the Board of Trustees to clarify the form of the delegation it was granting 
and how the delegation was to operate was a significant governance 
oversight.

71 I am also concerned that the minutes of the meeting do not record that the 
Board of Trustees placed any parameters or limitations on a settlement 
that could be reached under the delegation, other than that it would need 
to be supported by the Welsh Government and Amgueddfa Cymru’s 
underwriters. Nor do the minutes record that the trustees to whom the 
delegation was granted would need to report the outcome back to the 
Board of Trustees.

72 The Charity Commission has published guidance for trustees11 which sets 
out the legal framework for charity trustees’ decision-making. It provides 
that trustees must:

• act within their powers;
• act in good faith and only in the interests of the charity;
• make sure they are sufficiently informed;
• take account of all relevant factors;
• ignore any irrelevant factors;
• manage conflicts of interest; and
• make decisions that are within the range of decisions that a reasonable 

trustee body could make.
73 Trustees should be able to show that they have followed these principles 

to demonstrate that their decisions comply with their legal duties. While 
there is no one right decision that trustees can make, each decision must 
be within the range of decisions that a reasonable trustee body could 
make. 

11 Charity Commission, It’s your decision: charity trustees and decision making (CC27), first 
published May 2013. The guidance was updated in June 2023 to reflect changes introduced 
by the Charities Act 2022. Pack Page 66

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/its-your-decision-charity-trustees-and-decision-making


page 24 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

74 The Charity Commission guidance also advises that trustees must take 
decisions in a way that meets the requirements of charity law and their 
governing document. This includes:

• following any specific requirements in the governing document about 
making decisions and conducting meetings;

• taking decisions jointly (collectively), making sure all trustees have the 
opportunity to participate;

• if using a power to take decisions outside a meeting, strictly following 
the provisions of this power;

• if delegating to staff or sub-committees, having clear and robust 
reporting procedures and lines of accountability in place; and

• recording decisions properly, so there is no doubt about what was 
decided and why.

75 Therefore, in my view before granting delegating powers at the meeting of 
5 October 2022 to two trustees to act on their behalf, the Board of trustees 
should have:

• expressly identified the conflict of the President and any other conflicts, 
and determined how these conflicts should be managed;

• identified their relevant powers including the power to settle and the 
power to delegate;

• ensured that they had received and considered all necessary advice, 
including external legal advice, in relation to the proposed mediation, 
strength of the employment claims, appropriate terms and parameters 
of settlement etc;

• demonstrated that they had considered all relevant factors and ignored 
irrelevant factors; and

• considered and expressly decided what was in the best interests of 
Amgueddfa Cymru.

76 The Board of Trustees should have recorded these matters in the minutes, 
and certain basic matters, such as whether the meeting was quorate, so 
as to be able to demonstrate that it had taken its decision properly and in 
the best interests of the charity. 

77 The minutes of the meeting of 5 October 2022 (and other Board meetings) 
do not record that these matters were considered. Consequently, the 
Board of Trustees cannot in my view adequately demonstrate that it 
complied with the Charity Commission guidance.

Pack Page 67



page 25 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

78 I also have significant concern regarding the scope and terms of the 
delegation itself. As a matter of good governance, and as reflected in the 
Charity Commission guidance referred to in paragraphs 72 to 74, I would 
have expected the delegation to set out:

• clear parameters to the delegation – in this case, the financial and other 
parameters for settlement, what the Delegates are authorised to do, a 
requirement to seek legal advice on the terms during the mediation and 
before binding Amgueddfa Cymru etc;

• a requirement for referral back to the whole Board for approval outside 
those agreed parameters;

• authority to sign the settlement documentation; and
• requirements for reporting progress and the outcome of mediation back 

to the full Board.
79 The Charity Commission guidance also notes that where Trustees 

delegate decisions, they must have clear and robust reporting procedures 
and lines of accountability in place to ensure that delegated authority is 
exercised properly. High risk and novel decisions should not be delegated. 
In my view, the settlement arrangements reached by Amgueddfa Cymru 
with its former Director General were novel, contentious, and repercussive. 
Therefore, in accordance with the Charity Commission guidance they 
should not have been delegated.

80 In my view, the scope of the delegation agreed at the 5 October 2022 
meeting is unclear. The resolution simply provides that ‘the Museum 
should be represented by the Vice-President, … and another trustee [at 
the mediation] with authority to bind the Museum.’

81 The former Director General, the former President, another Amgueddfa 
Cymru trustee, the Welsh Government’s Director of Human Resources, 
the mediator, and legal representatives of each of the parties all signed a 
mediation agreement dated 11 October 2022, prepared by the appointed 
mediator.

82 On 20 October 2022, Amgueddfa Cymru’s Board of Trustees, after 
consideration of legal advice, decided that the cost of the former 
President’s legal fees in relation to the dispute would be borne by 
Amgueddfa Cymru. Amgueddfa Cymru has not borne legal fees incurred 
by the former Director General.

Pack Page 68



page 26 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

83 In the week commencing 14 November 2022, further meetings were 
held between the mediator and each of the parties to reach agreement 
on a settlement that each party could accept. Present at these meetings 
were Amgueddfa Cymru’s Director General, President, another trustee, 
and the Welsh Government’s Director of Human Resources and their 
representatives. The then President told my auditors he: 

“was not consulted in respect of, and not responsible for, the terms that 
were agreed with the former Director General that caused him to withdraw 
the complaints that he had issued with the Wales Employment Tribunal”.

84 Following the mediation meetings, I understand that the two members 
of the Board of Trustees who had been delegated authority instructed 
Amgueddfa Cymru’s legal advisors to draw up a ‘Heads of Terms’ 
document based on what had been agreed within the mediation process. 
However, it is arguable that the delegation only covered the mediation 
process and did not extend to approving of the Heads of Terms. 

85 I would also have expected the Board of Trustees to have been kept up 
to date on the Heads of Terms and Settlement Agreement, to enable the 
Board to comply with their duties of oversight and accountability.

86 In summary, the decision-making process concerning the resolution of the 
employment dispute with the former Director General was, in my view, 
fundamentally flawed as Amgueddfa Cymru did not:

• demonstrate it had taken into account all key considerations;
• comply with the Charity Commission guidance;
• comply with its Royal Charter and Statutes; 
• adequately document its decision-making process.

Pack Page 69



page 27 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

The terms of the settlement agreement for the former 
Director General, amounting to potential costs of 
£325,698 are, in my view, novel, contentious and 
repercussive and Amgueddfa Cymru has not been able 
to demonstrate that it has acted in its best interests as a 
charity or that the settlement represents value for public 
money
87 On 17 November 2022, a ‘Heads of Terms’ document was signed by 

Amgueddfa Cymru’s former Director General, its former President, its 
appointed legal representative, and the Welsh Government’s Director of 
Human Resources. The former President told my auditors that: 

“The terms that related to the former Director General had been negotiated 
with Amgueddfa Cymru and the Welsh Government, [the former President] 
had no responsibility for those negotiations.” 

88 The ‘Heads of Terms’ document set out that:

• the Director General would recuse himself with immediate effect from 
his role as Director General due to health reasons, but he would fulfil 
certain specified engagements as agreed with Amgueddfa Cymru.

• Amgueddfa Cymru would pay the Director General the sum of £50,000 
tax free as compensation for injury to his feelings without admission 
by Amgueddfa Cymru of liability, and on the condition that he would 
withdraw his two employment tribunal claims.

• from 1 April 2023, the Director General would work a period of 18 
months’ notice, during which he would be on sabbatical leave. He would 
spend the first 12 months of his notice period on his existing Director 
General contractual terms and conditions of employment, albeit he 
would not be required to discharge the role of the Director General 
and would no longer hold the title. During the last six-months of his 
notice, he would work two days a week, again on his current terms 
and conditions of employment, pro-rated to reflect the fact he would no 
longer be full time.

Pack Page 70



page 28 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

• during this 18-month notice period his job title would be ‘Emeritus 
Fellow of the Museum’.

• Amgueddfa Cymru would contribute a maximum of £7,500 in 2023-
24 and again 2024-25, so up to £15,000 in total, to cover travel and 
subsistence costs (subject to provision of appropriate invoices). As of 22 
August 2023, no claims had been made.

• Amgueddfa Cymru would contribute a maximum of £7,500 in both 2023-
24 and 2024-25, so up to £15,000 in total, on account of administrative 
costs (again subject to the provision of appropriate invoices). As of 22 
August 2023, no claims had been made.

• on 30 September 2024, his employment with Amgueddfa Cymru would 
terminate with a further payment of £20,000 for loss of office.

89 The Heads of Terms document also set out that, with the employment 
tribunal claims withdrawn, the former President would recuse himself of his 
role from 17 November 2022 and that he would step down from his post 
on 31 December 2022, three months earlier than the scheduled end of his 
term.

90 Although not articulated in the Heads of Terms document, the former 
Director General’s salary for the recusal period to 31 March 2023 
amounted to £39,794. His salary for the 18-month period from 1 April 
2023 to 30 September 2024 amounts to £130,073 at 2022-23 salary rates 
and subject to future pay inflation. Amgueddfa Cymru’s expected national 
insurance and pension contributions for the period 17 November 2022 to 
30 September 2024 amount to a further £55,831.

91 Further to the agreement of the Heads of Terms document, the two 
delegated members instructed Amgueddfa Cymru’s legal advisors to draw 
up a written settlement agreement based on the Heads of Terms. This was 
to set out the specific details of the agreement and the responsibilities of 
each of the parties involved.

92 On 5 December 2022, the former Director General, the former President, 
Amgueddfa Cymru’s Vice President on behalf of Amgueddfa Cymru and 
the Welsh Government’s Director of Human Resources on behalf of the 
Welsh Ministers signed the settlement agreement. This settled the dispute 
without acceptance of liability.

93 I have described my concern about the delegation granted on 5 October 
for the Vice President to sign the Settlement Agreement on behalf 
of Amgueddfa Cymru (see paragraphs 60 to 86). The terms of the 
delegation appear to provide joint authority for the delegates whereas the 
Settlement Agreement is only signed by one of them. I therefore consider 
in these respects the delegation falls short of expected governance 
standards.

Pack Page 71



page 29 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

94 Overall, the total financial value of the different elements of the settlement 
agreement relating to the former Director General was £325,698. Most 
of this cost falls to Amgueddfa Cymru although the Welsh Government 
contributed £10,000 towards the compensation for injury to feelings and 
Amgueddfa Cymru has covered a further £38,000 of that cost through 
insurance. The Welsh Government will also contribute £10,000 towards 
the payment for loss of office (see paragraph 119). 

95 The amount of the settlement is significant and, in my view, novel, 
contentious, and repercussive. I set out some key areas of concern below:

• the courts have set clear guidelines for compensation to be awarded 
where a claimant successfully claims injury to feelings. There are three 
bands (the lower, middle, and top bands), which increase annually. The 
top band, which is reserved for the most serious cases, such as where 
there has been a lengthy campaign of discriminatory harassment, was 
£29,600 to £49,300 at the time the settlement agreement was entered 
into. A tribunal has jurisdiction to make awards more than the upper limit 
of the top band, but this is very rare, and is reserved for exceptional 
circumstances. The compensation agreed with the former Director 
General for this element of his settlement was marginally above the 
top point of the band. The Welsh Government and Amgueddfa Cymru 
have told my auditors that as the former Director General had made 
two separate and distinct claims to employment tribunal, in principle 
this could have resulted in two or more ‘injury to feelings’ or ‘loss of 
employment’ awards. 

• to all intents and purposes, the settlement agreement provided the 
former Director General with a notice period of just over 22 months. 
However, the former Director General’s contract of employment 
specified a 12-month notice period (this would have been payable had 
Amgueddfa Cymru terminated the Director General’s contract with 
immediate effect). For the period from 1 April 2023 to 30 September 
2024 the Heads of Terms document stated explicitly that the former 
Director General would be ‘under no obligation and will not be 
accountable to Amgueddfa Cymru other than in the manner explicitly 
stated in this Agreement’ (i.e., to comply with the obligations set out in 
the legally binding settlement agreement).’

• during the recusal period from 17 November 2022 to 31 March 2023, 
the former Director General was effectively placed on a period of 
‘gardening leave’. He was not required to perform services on behalf of 
Amgueddfa Cymru – apart from attending a small number of meetings, 
including a trip to Qatar in November 2022 – but continued to be paid 
his normal salary.

Pack Page 72



page 30 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

• the extent of the duties the former Director General will perform as 
an Emeritus Fellow of the Museum between 1 April 2023 and 30 
September 2024 are not specified and, based on the provisions set out 
above, there will be no accountability to Amgueddfa Cymru for this role. 
Relevant to the provisions for expenses, the Heads of Terms document 
stated: 

“For the avoidance of doubt, [the former Director General] shall be 
permitted to attend the American Association of Museums Conference in 
Denver in 2023 and 2024, and also two Museum Association Conferences 
in 2023 and 2024.”
• the terms include an additional payment of £20,000 by way of 

compensation for the termination of the former Director General’s 
employment on 30 September 2024, despite the extended notice 
period.

96 As set out in Part three of this report, Amgueddfa Cymru’s trustees are 
required to act in the best interests of the charity and to ensure that 
they make decisions that are sufficiently informed, take account of all 
relevant factors and ignore any irrelevant factors. It is therefore imperative 
that trustee decisions and the reasons for those decisions are properly 
documented to demonstrate that trustees have made decisions in the best 
interests of the charity. This is particularly important in the case of such 
a sensitive issue as Amgueddfa Cymru’s entering a settlement with its 
former Director General.

97 I am advised that Amgueddfa Cymru sought advice from its external legal 
advisors throughout the employment dispute. Therefore, it is possible 
that there may have been information available which Amgueddfa 
Cymru’s trustees could have considered and would have helped provide 
justification for the amount and structure of the settlement.

98 However, Amgueddfa Cymru and its Board of Trustees have been unable 
to provide my auditors with contemporaneous documentary evidence that:

• they took advice on the likelihood of success of the claim in the 
employment tribunal, risks and value of claim etc;

• the Board of Trustees placed any parameters or limitations on the 
settlement that could be reached under the delegation; or

• the Board of Trustees agreed a mechanism for the delegates to keep it 
informed of progress made.

99 Therefore, I am not satisfied that Amgueddfa Cymru’s trustees took 
into account all relevant considerations and disregarded irrelevant 
considerations when agreeing settlement terms with the former Director 
General. 

Pack Page 73



page 31 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

100 The Welsh Government told my auditors that off the back of a very 
difficult and protracted situation, “the overall settlement agreed, which 
included agreeing to settle multiple claims and making arrangements for 
the dignified exit for the former President and former Director General”, 
can reasonably be considered “a good least cost outcome for the public 
purse”. 

101 Amgueddfa Cymru told my auditors that “the settlement arrangements 
agreed with the former Director General, the former President and Welsh 
Government represented value for public money”. 

102 In my view Amgueddfa Cymru has not been able to demonstrate that it 
has acted in its best interests as a charity or that the settlement represents 
value for public money.

Pack Page 74



page 32 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

In the context of the Welsh Government being a party 
to the settlement agreement and the longstanding 
dispute that gave rise to it, it is unclear to me 
whether it applied all relevant procedures for its own 
consideration and approval of the agreement
103 Where a decision is made that is deemed novel, contentious or 

repercussive the Welsh Government has specific procedures that it 
expects its arm’s length bodies to follow. These are described in the 
‘calling-in arrangements’ set out to manage the relationship between the 
Welsh Government and arm’s length bodies.

104 The Welsh Government introduced revised calling-in arrangements in 
2019 and communicated these to its arm’s length bodies12. At the time of 
the events described in this report the Framework Document governing 
the relationship between the Welsh Government and Amgueddfa Cymru 
had not been updated to reflect the revised arrangements. I am aware that 
the Welsh Government consulted its arm’s length bodies on changes to 
the framework documents earlier in 2023. 

105 Calling-in arrangements should be reflected in Managing Welsh Public 
Money13, which sets out the fundamental principles for the management 
of public funds. Managing Welsh Public Money requires public bodies to 
‘refer to their sponsor Branch any issues which appear novel, contentious 
or repercussive’. It also says that ‘The Welsh Government’s public bodies 
should operate to these same standards [of authorisation of special 
payments] unless there are good reasons to the contrary (e.g., overriding 
requirements applicable under the Companies Act). Sponsor Branches 
must ensure that their oversight arrangements (see Chapter 7) enable 
them to be satisfied that their public bodies observe the standards’.

12  Welsh Government, DAO (Wales) 02/19 – Calling-in arrangements, July 2019
13  Welsh Government, Managing Welsh Public Money, January 2016Pack Page 75

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/calling-in-arrangements.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/managing-welsh-public-money


page 33 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

106 The revised calling-in arrangements describe different procedures to those 
held in Managing Welsh Public Money, whereby decisions are categorised 
into ‘approval’ or ‘pre-notification’ dependent on the decision being 
made. A decision which is deemed novel, contentious, or repercussive14 
falls under ‘pre-notification arrangements’. In such circumstances, the 
expectation is that Chief Executive Officers [or their equivalent] would 
notify their Welsh Government sponsor division of the proposed decision 
to allow the Welsh Government to provide appropriate advice. The 
arrangements set out that, in conjunction with the appropriate Welsh 
Government policy teams, the sponsor division would prepare advice to 
discuss with the Welsh Government’s Public Bodies Unit who in turn would 
seek the written advice of the Welsh Government’s Corporate Governance 
Centre of Excellence and any other body with expertise in the issue.

107 There is no general expectation that such decisions require formal 
Ministerial approval. However, the arrangements provide for ‘further 
advice’ in respect of the Additional Accounting Officer and Minister, on 
an ‘as appropriate’ basis. They also state that should the body decide 
to disregard the Welsh Government’s advice, the sponsor division may 
escalate the matter to the relevant Minister. The arrangements indicate 
that Ministers reserve the right to overrule a decision taken by a public 
body which, after discussion, is not justifiable. 

108 While it might be argued that the Welsh Government’s revised calling-in 
arrangements set out in its letter of July 2019 supersede the requirements 
of Managing Welsh Public Money, the contradiction between the two is not 
conducive to robust stewardship of public money. In April 2020, the Welsh 
Government indicated to the Senedd’s Public Accounts Committee that 
a planned update of Managing Welsh Public Money had been impacted 
by the COVID-19 outbreak. A revised version of Managing Welsh Public 
Money has yet to be produced.

109 In this case, the Welsh Government was itself a party to the settlement 
agreement and the longstanding dispute that gave rise to it. The Welsh 
Government’s Director of Human Resources participated in the mediation 
process, including agreeing the Heads of Terms and signing the settlement 
agreement (see paragraphs 81 to 93).

14 Including but not restricted to proposals that are non-standard for the sector, are politically 
sensitive and/or likely to attract negative media attention, could result in unwelcome 
consequences for the organisation and/or for the wider public sector, or could set a 
precedent for the sector and wider public sector.Pack Page 76



page 34 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

110 I consider that, given the Welsh Government was itself party to the 
agreement and contributing to the overall cost, it would have been prudent 
for it to have considered the proposals under the requirements on the 
Welsh Government for special payments in Managing Welsh Public Money 
regardless of the revised calling in arrangements for arm’s length bodies. 
Under Managing Welsh Public Money, the settlement agreement (special 
severance15) would have required First Minister approval.

111 More generally, I consider that the circumstances of this case raise 
questions about the clarity and robustness of processes for scrutiny of 
proposals relevant to the calling-in arrangements for arm’s length bodies 
where the Welsh Government is itself a directly involved party.

112 My audit team has seen e-mail exchanges between the Welsh 
Government’s sponsor division and its corporate governance unit 
concerning the settlement agreement. The extent of the Public Bodies 
Unit’s involvement is not clear from the evidence my team has received. 
My audit team has not been provided with any specific written advice 
from the Welsh Government to Amgueddfa Cymru concerning the 
settlement agreement itself, notwithstanding the involvement of the Welsh 
Government’s Director of Human Resources in that process. 

113 My audit team has also seen Ministerial Advice from the sponsor division 
to the Deputy Minister for Arts and Sports, and Chief Whip dated 6 
December 2022. The Welsh Government told my auditors the Ministerial 
Advice was based on legal advice it had received. The Ministerial Advice 
was copied to the First Minister, the Counsel General, the Minister for 
Economy, the Minister for Social Justice, and the Welsh Government’s 
Permanent Secretary.

114 The advice indicated that the proposed settlement raised novel and 
contentious issues and noted that, ‘Officials involved in the mediation 
agreement believe that the package can be justified in order to reach an 
agreement and help resolve the ongoing situation’. The significant and full 
total value of the settlement – as summarised in Part four of this report – 
was not indicated in the advice.

115 The advice summarised the outcome of the mediation process and the 
settlement agreement that had been reached. While it set out certain 
details about the recusal period from 17 November 2022 to 31 March 2023 
and the employment arrangements from 1 April 2023 to 30 September 
2024, the advice did not set out the employment costs arising from those 
arrangements or explain that the former Director General’s contractual 
notice period was 12 months (see paragraph 89).

15 Special severance payments are paid to employees, contractors, and others outside of 
normal statutory or contractual requirements, when leaving employment in public service, 
whether they resign, are dismissed or reach an agreed termination of contract.Pack Page 77



page 35 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

116 The advice did not seek overall approval for the agreement but asked the 
Minister to agree to issue letters to both the former President and former 
Director General thanking them for their service, to agree temporary 
arrangements for the duties of President, and to issue a statement on 
changes to the Board of Amgueddfa Cymru. The Welsh Government 
released that statement on 9 December 202216.

117 The advice suggests that the sums involved in the compensation for injury 
to feelings and for loss of employment were reasonable. In the case of 
injury to feelings, the advice set this against the possible (unquantified) 
costs in defending tribunal proceedings and the likely prospects of 
success. I note that the advice stated that the sum of £50,000 for injury 
to feelings was ‘in the highest bracket of injury to feelings awards that an 
Employment Tribunal can award’. It did not make clear that the upper band 
for such awards was £29,600 to £49,300, albeit that tribunals can make 
higher awards in exceptional cases (and can make more than one award if 
the claimant has made more than one separate and distinct claim). 

118 The advice suggested the £20,000 compensation for loss of employment 
was reasonable considering the former Director General’s length of service 
and commitment shown to Amgueddfa Cymru.

119 The advice addressed financial implications for the Welsh Government. 
It sought the Deputy Minister’s agreement for the Welsh Government 
to provide additional funding to Amgueddfa Cymru in two separate 
contributions of £10,000 towards the overall £50,000 compensation for 
injury to feelings and the £20,000 payment on termination of employment. 
It also sought agreement for the Welsh Government to contribute up to 
£30,000 (though expected to be circa £20,000)17 towards the costs of the 
mediation itself.

120 Other matters covered by the advice included agreement for the former 
President of Amgueddfa Cymru to lead a governance review of the status 
of Cadw (which the Welsh Government subsequently announced on 12 
December 202218). It also sought agreement concerning costs associated 
with the recruitment campaign for a new President and Vice President 
(which the advice put at up to £40,000).

16 Welsh Government, Written Statement: Update on Amgueddfa Cymru, 9 December 2022
17 In practice the Welsh Government contributed £20,500 towards mediation costs (see 

paragraph 59). The contributions towards compensation for injury to feelings and on 
termination of employment are as stated.

18 Welsh Government, Press release, 14 December 2022Pack Page 78

https://www.gov.wales/written-statement-update-amgueddfa-cymru
https://www.gov.wales/welsh-government-review-cadw-be-led-roger-lewis


page 36 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

121 I am making recommendations to both Amgueddfa Cymru and the Welsh 
Government arising from some specific aspects of this case.

122 As noted in paragraph 14, the Welsh Government’s recent Tailored 
Review has made recommendations of its own on wider matters relevant 
to Amgueddfa Cymru and its governance arrangements.

123 I also understand that as part of the mediation process for the employment 
dispute, the former Director General asked that lessons be learned from 
the process for public bodies in Wales.

124 This report should also be read more generally as a reminder to all 
public bodies of the importance of the proper application of governance 
frameworks and principles to safeguard public money and public 
confidence.

Recommendations

Pack Page 79



page 37 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

Recommendations table

R1 Amgueddfa Cymru should review its internal control 
arrangements to ensure that it has measures in place 
to ensure compliance with the principles detailed within 
Charity Commission guidance: It’s your decision: charity 
trustees and decision making (CC27).

R2 Drawing on the learning from the employment dispute at 
Amgueddfa Cymru, the Welsh Government should work 
with its arm’s length bodies to ensure grievance policies 
and whistleblowing policies address the scenario of 
concerns that are raised by their most senior officers and/
or that are directed at Board members and ensure broad 
consistency of approach.

R3 The Welsh Government should clarify the procedures to 
be followed in circumstances such as the employment 
dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru where it is itself a party to 
novel, contentious, or repercussive proposals arising from 
its arm’s length bodies.

Pack Page 80



page 38 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

Pack Page 81



page 39 Governance arrangements relating to an employment dispute at Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

Pack Page 82



Audit Wales

1 Capital Quarter (ground & first)

Tyndall Street

Cardiff CF10 4BZ

Tel: 029 2032 0500

Textphone: 029 2032 0660

E-mail: info@audit.wales

Website: www.audit.wales

We welcome correspondence and 
telephone calls in Welsh and English. 

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a 
galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg.

Pack Page 83



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 84

Agenda Item 6 By virtue of paragraph(s) vii of Standing Order 17.42



Rebecca Evans AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol  
Minister for Finance and Local Government 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

                Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales 
Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
 
Eich cyf/Your ref  
Ein cyf/Our ref:  RE/368/2023 
 
 
Mark Isherwood MS 
Chair 
Public Accounts and Public Administration Committee 
Senedd Cymru 
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff 
CF99 1SN 
SeneddPAPA@senedd.wales  

01 November 2023 
 
 

 
Dear Mark, 
 
Thank you for your letter on behalf of the committee in relation to the Legislative Consent 
Memorandum (LCM) on the Economic Activity of Public Bodies (Overseas Matters) Bill. I set 
out my response to your questions below: 
 
With regards to your first point, it is the view of the Welsh Government that consent is not 
required for Clauses 12 and 13. This is because both clauses apply to local government 
workers pensions which is reserved under paragraph 134 of Schedule 7A to the Government 
of Wales Act 2006 and the provisions do not have regard to devolved matters.  There are a 
limited number of occupational pensions which fall within the exception to the reservation in 
paragraph 134 (e.g., pensions for members of local authorities) however these are not 
relevant to clauses 12 or 13. Further, clause 13(3) amends an instrument which only applies 
in relation to Northern Ireland, which would be outside of the Senedd’s competence.  

 
In answer to your second point, Clause 15(3)(a) provides the Secretary of State with a 
regulation making power to be able to disapply s.17(5)(f) of the Local Government Act 1988 
(the 1988 Act). Clause 115(2) of the Procurement Act provides a power for Welsh Ministers 
(or a Minister of the Crown) to disapply the duty under section 17(1) of the 1988 Act so far as 
it relates to a relevant authority. Such regulations can include disapplying the duty in s.17(1) 
of the 1988 Act as it relates to “all non-commercial matters (see section 17(5) of the 1988 
Act) or those that are specified” (clause 115(3)(d) applies). The Senedd has legislative 
competence in relation to any provision of the Procurement Act which confers functions on 
contracting authorities which are devolved Welsh authorities or which confers a power to 
make regulations or issue guidance in relation to contracting authorities which are devolved 
Welsh authorities. Therefore, clause 15(3)(a) of the Bill arguably modifies the ability of the 
Welsh Ministers to exercise the power in clause 115(2) of the Procurement Act. However, the 

Pack Page 122

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales
mailto:Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru
mailto:SeneddPAPA@senedd.wales


modified power will continue to allow Welsh Ministers to make regulations to disapply 
provisions of section 17(1) of the 1988 Act for relevant Welsh contracting authorities as they 
see fit.  
 
I hope these clarifications are satisfactory. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
Rebecca Evans AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol  
Minister for Finance and Local Government 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 123


	Agenda
	2.1 Letter from Director General, Climate Change and Rural Affairs Group on Cardiff Airport Next Generation Security Scanners
	2.2 Letter from the Managing Director - Green Man
	2.3 Letter from the Chief Executive and Clerk of the Senedd - Scrutiny of annual report and accounts 2022-23
	2.4 Letter from the Permanent Secretary - Report of the Public Accounts and Public Administration Committee - Scrutiny of Accounts Welsh Government 2021-22
	2.5 Welsh Government response to the Legislative Consent Memorandum (LCM) on the Economic Activity of Public Bodies (Overseas Matters) Bill
	2.6 Letter from the First Minister to Chair of the Children, Young People and Education Committee
	2.7 Letter from the Chair of the Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure Committee
	3 Accounts scrutiny: Amgueddfa Cymru-Museum Wales
	Public Interest Report of the Auditor General for Wales
	Contents
	Key messages
	About this report 
	Key findings
	Amgueddfa Cymru did not have adequate policies in place to deal with concerns raised by its most sen
	The employment dispute adversely affected Amgueddfa Cymru’s governance arrangements between Septembe
	Amgueddfa Cymru’s decision-making process concerning the resolution of the employment dispute with t
	The terms of the settlement agreement for the former Director General, amounting to potential costs 
	In the context of the Welsh Government being a party to the settlement agreement and the longstandin
	Recommendations


	6 Consideration of the Committees draft report on the Senedd Commission's Accounts to the Committee
	7 Consideration of the Legislative Consent Motion (LCM) on the Economic Activity of Public Bodies (Overseas Matters) Bill



